
1 

SACRAMENTO GROUNDWATER AUTHORITY 
MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Thursday, June 12, 2025 
at 9:00 a.m.  

2295 Gateway Oaks, Suite 100 
Sacramento, CA 95833  

(916) 967-7692

The Board will discuss all items on this agenda, and may take action on any of those items, 
including information items and continued items. The Board may also discuss other items 
that do not appear on this agenda but will not act on those items unless action is urgent, 
and a resolution is passed by a two-thirds (2/3) vote declaring that the need for action arose 
after posting of this agenda. 

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING VIRTUAL PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 
The Sacramento Groundwater Authority currently provides in person as well as virtual 
public participation via the Zoom link below until further notice. The public shall have the 
opportunity to directly address the Board on any item of interest before or during the Board’s 
consideration of that item. Public comment on items within the jurisdiction of the Board is 
welcomed, subject to reasonable time limitations for each speaker. 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/86234537375 

Meeting ID: 862 3453 7375 Passcode: 955951 

Dial by your location 
+1 669 444 9171 US or +1 669 900 6833 US (San Jose)

If we experience technical difficulties and the Zoom link drops and you are no longer 
able to connect to the Board meeting, please dial 1-877-654-0338 – Guest Code 198 

Public documents relating to any open session item listed on this agenda that are 
distributed to all or a majority of the members of the Board of Directors less than 72 hours 
before the meeting are available for public inspection on SGA’s website. In compliance with 
the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you have a disability and need a disability-related 
modification or accommodation to participate in this meeting, please contact 
jpeifer@rwah2o.org. Requests must be made as early as possible, and at least one full 
business day before the start of the meeting. 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/86234537375?pwd=xjnaMHMXX0EHFr1oqcYkZIaArPLnsi.1


2 

AGENDA 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

2. PUBLIC COMMENT: Members of the public who wish to address the Board may
do so at this time. Please keep your comments to less than three minutes.

3. CONSENT CALENDAR:
All items listed under the Consent Calendar are considered and acted upon by one
motion. Anyone may request an item be removed for separate consideration.

3.1 Approve the draft meeting minutes of April 10, 2025, SGA Board Meeting 

3.2 Approve Change Order 2025-02 to West Yost Agreement 

3.3 Approve Change Order 2024-02 to Woodard & Curran Agreement 

Action: Approve Consent Calendar items as presented 

4. INFORMATION: SACRAMENTO REGIONAL WATER BANK AND WATER
ACCOUNTING SYSTEM UPDATES
Presenter: Trevor Joseph, Manager of Technical Services

5. INFORMATION: SGMA GRANT UPDATE
Presenter: Raiyna Villaseñor, Senior Project Manager

6. INFORMATION: LEGISLATIVE UPDATE
Presenter: Ryan Ojakian, Manager of Government Affairs

7. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT

8. DIRECTORS’ COMMENTS

ADJOURNMENT

Next SGA Board of Director’s Meetings:   
August 14, 2025, 9:00 a.m. at the RWA/SGA office, 2295 Gateway Oaks, Suite 100, 
Sacramento, CA 95833. The location is subject to change.  

Notification will be emailed when the SGA electronic packet is complete and posted on 
the SGA website at https://www.sgah2o.org/meetings/board-meetings/ 

Posted on: June 6, 2025 

____________________________ 
Ashley Flores, CMC, Board Clerk 

https://www.sgah2o.org/meetings/board-meetings/
https://www.sgah2o.org/meetings/board-meetings/


2025 SGA BOARD MEMBERS 

Organization Representative/Alternate Appointing 
Authority 

Term Ends 

California American 
Water  

S. Audie Foster
Terry Coleman (Alternate)

Sacramento 
City Council 

August 2028 

Carmichael Water 
District 

Paul Selsky  
Jeff Nelson (Alternate) 

Sacramento 
County 

August 2026 

Citrus Heights Water 
District 

Caryl Sheehan  
Raymond Riehle (Alternate) 

Citrus Heights 
City Council 

February 
2028 

City of Folsom Marcus Yasutake 
Barbara Leary (Alternate) 

Folsom City 
Council 

Jan 2027 

City of Sacramento Lisa Kaplan 
Brett Ewart (Alternate) 

Sacramento 
City Council 

April 2028 
(Annual Review)

County of 
Sacramento 

Rosario Rodriguez 
Chris Hunley Chair 
Kerry Schmitz (Alternate) 
Matt Satow (Alternate) 

Sacramento 
County 

July 17, 2026 

Del Paso Manor 
Water District 

Gwynne Pratt Sacramento 
City Council 

August 2028 

Fair Oaks Water 
District 

Randy Marx  
Christian Petersen (Alternate) 

Sacramento 
County 

August 2026 

Golden State Water 
Company 

Paul Schubert  
Sean Twilla (Alternate) 

Sacramento 
City Council 

August 2028 

Natomas Central 
MWC 

Matt Lauppe  
Brett Gray (Alternate) 

Sacramento 
City Council 

August 2028 

Orange Vale Water 
Company 

John Wingerter 
Craig Davis (Alternate) 

Sacramento 
County 

August 2026 

Rio Linda/Elverta 
CWD 

Maria Liverett 
Anthony Cline (Alternate) 

Sacramento 
County 

August 2026 

Sacramento 
Suburban Water 
District 

Jay Boatwright Vice Chair 
Robert Wichert (Alternate) 
Kevin Thomas (Alternate) 

Sacramento 
City Council 

July 2026 
(Updated 
4/4/23) 

San Juan Water 
District 

Ted Costa 
Dan Rich (Alternate) 

Sacramento 
County 

August 2026 

Agriculture Mike DeWit 
Nathan Doyel (Alternate) 

Sacramento 
County 

August 2026 

Self-Supplied 
Industry 

Clint Luedtke 
Del Paso Country Club 

Sacramento 
City Council 

August 2028 

May 2025 



Agenda Item 2 

 

Sacramento Groundwater Authority 
June 12, 2025 
Board Meeting 

 Agenda Item 2 
Page 1 of 1 

  

 
 

Topic: Public Comment 
Type: New Business 
Item For: Information/Discussion 
Purpose: Routine 

 
 
 

 
SUBMITTED BY: 

Ashley Flores, CMC 
Board Clerk 

 
PRESENTER: 

Jim Peifer 
Executive Director 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This is an information item to provide an opportunity for the Sacramento Groundwater Authority 
Board of Directors to recognize or hear from visitors that may be attending the meeting or to allow 
members of the public to address the Board of Directors on matters that are not on the agenda. 
 
As noted on the agenda, members of the public who wish to address the committee may do so at 
this time. Please keep your comments to less than three minutes. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION 
None. This item is for information only. 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
Public agencies are required by law to provide an opportunity for the public to address the SGA 
Board of Directors matters that are not on the agenda. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



3.0 CONSENT CALENDAR 



Attachment 1 

Draft meeting minutes of the Sacramento Groundwater Authority 

 Board of Directors Meeting of April 10, 2025 



1 
 

   

1.    CALL TO ORDER 
Chair Hunley called the regular meeting of the SGA Board of Directors to order on 
April 10, 2025 at 9:00 a.m. at the RWA conference room located at 2295 Gateway 
Oaks Drive, Suite 100, Sacramento, CA 95833.  

 
A quorum was established of 10 participating members. Individuals in attendance 
are listed below: 
 
Board Members 
Marcus Yasutake, City of Folsom 
Lisa Kaplan, City of Sacramento  
Chris Hunley, County of Sacramento, Chair 
Gwynne Pratt, Del Paso Manor Water District  
Sean Twilla, Golden State Water Company 
Maria Liverett, Rio Linda/Elverta Community Water District 
Jay Boatwright, Sacramento Suburban Water District, Vice Chair  
Ted Costa, San Juan Water District 
Nathan Cameron Doyel, Agriculture 
Clint Luedtke, Self Supplied Industry 
 
Staff Members 
Jim Peifer, Trevor Joseph, Tom Hoffart, Raiyna Villasenor, Monica Garcia, Ashley 
Flores and Chris Sanders, legal counsel 
 
Others in Attendance 
Barbara Leary, City of Folsom; Todd Eising, City of Folsom; Brett Ewart, City of 
Sacramento; Dan York, Sacramento Suburban Water District; Craig Locke, 
Sacramento Suburban Water District; Brett Gray, Natomas CMWD; Ali Taghavi; 
Kevin Thomas, Sacramento Suburban Water District; Greg Zlotnick, San Juan 
Water District; and Paul Helliker, San Juan Water District. 

 
2. PUBLIC COMMENT 

None 
 
 
3. 2025 BOARD MEETING DISCUSSION TOPICS 

This is an administrative item presented by Executive Director Peifer for the 
Sacramento Groundwater Authority Board of Directors to review upcoming Board 
Meeting Discussion Topics. No action was taken.  

 

 SACRAMENTO GROUNDWATER AUTHORITY 
Board Meeting  

Draft Minutes  
April 10, 2025 

 



2 
 

4. CONSENT CALENDAR 
 

4.1 Approve the draft meeting minutes of February 13, 2025, SGA Board Special and 
Regular Meetings  
  

4.2 Approve Change Order No. 1 to Woodard & Curran Task Order 24-02 for 
Groundwater Sustainability Plan amendment and modeling support 

 
4.3 Approve Change Order No. 1 to West Yost Agreement SGA 2024-001 for  

Groundwater Quality Degradation Study 
 
A motion was made to approve the Consent Calendar. 
 
M/S/C: Director Boatwright moved with a second by Director Kaplan  

 
Marcus Yasutake, City of Folsom; Lisa Kaplan, City of Sacramento; Chris Hunley, 
County of Sacramento; Gwynne Pratt, Del Paso Manor Water District; Maria 
Liverett, Rio Linda Elverta Community Water District; Jay Boatwright, Sacramento 
Suburban Water District; Ted Costa, San Juan Water District; Nathan Cameron 
Doyel, Agriculture; and Clint Luedtke, Self Supplied Industry; Voted yes. 
 
Ayes- 9 
Noes- 0 
Abstained- 0 
Absent- 7 
 

 
5. REVISIONS TO POLICY 400.3 (BUDGET POLICY) 

This is an action item presented by Tom Hoffart, Finance and Administrative Services 
Manager for the Board of Directors to approve Revisions to Policy 400.3 (Budget Policy).  
 
A motion was made to approve Revisions to Policy 400.3 (Budget Policy) 
 
M/S/C: Director Yasutake moved with a second by Director Pratt  
 
Marcus Yasutake, City of Folsom; Lisa Kaplan, City of Sacramento; Chris Hunley, 
County of Sacramento; Gwynne Pratt, Del Paso Manor Water District; Maria 
Liverett, Rio Linda Elverta Community Water District; Jay Boatwright, Sacramento 
Suburban Water District; Ted Costa, San Juan Water District; Nathan Cameron 
Doyel, Agriculture; and Clint Luedtke, Self Supplied Industry; Voted yes. 
 
Ayes- 9 
Noes- 0 
Abstained- 0 
Absent- 7 

 



3 
 

Director Twilla and Director Leary entered the meeting at 9:07 a.m. 
 
6. FISCAL YEAR 2025/26 BUDGET  

This was an action item presented by Tom Hoffart, Finance and Administrative 
Services Manager to receive the final Fiscal Year 2025/26 Budget and adopt SGA 
Resolution 2025-02 entitled, “A Resolution of the SGA Adopting and Assigning Costs 
to Fund the Administrative and Program Budgets for FY 2025/26 and Providing for the 
Collection of Said Funds.” 
 
A motion was made to adopt SGA Resolution 2025-02 entitled, “A Resolution of 
the SGA Adopting and Assigning Costs to Fund the Administrative and Program 
Budgets for FY 2025/26 and Providing for the Collection of Said Funds.” including 
the amended rate for Carmichael Water District. 
 
This item requires a double majority weight vote, per Section 8 of SGA JPA. 
 
M/S/C: Director Kaplan moved with a second by Director Boatwright  
 
Marcus Yasutake, City of Folsom; Lisa Kaplan, City of Sacramento; Chris Hunley, 
County of Sacramento; Gwynne Pratt, Del Paso Manor Water District; Sean Twilla, 
Golden State Water Company; Maria Liverett, Rio Linda Elverta Community Water 
District; Jay Boatwright, Sacramento Suburban Water District; Ted Costa, San Juan 
Water District; Nathan Cameron Doyel, Agriculture; and Clint Luedtke, Self Supplied 
Industry; Voted yes. 
 
Ayes- 10 
Noes- 0 
Abstained- 0 
Absent- 6 

 
Director Kaplan exited the meeting at 10:11 a.m. 

 
 
7.  SUSTAINABLE GROUNDWATER MANAGEMENT ACT NORTH AMERICAN 

SUBBASIN ANNUAL REPORT (POST FILING) 
This was an information item presented by Trevor Joseph, Manager of Technical 
Services briefed the Board of Directors on the Sustainable Groundwater Management 
Act required water year 2024 Annual Report for the North American Subbasin. No 
action was taken. 

 
8. SACRAMENTO REGIONAL WATER BANK AND WATER ACCOUNTING 

FRAMEWORK UPDATES 
This was an information item presented by Trevor Joseph, Manager of Technical 
Services briefed the Board of Directors on the 
 

9. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
Executive Director Peifer reported the State of the Basin is being held on April 23 at 



4 
 

the Water Forum office. He thanked the Budget Committee for their work on reviewing 
this year’s budget with Mr. Hoffart. He also recognized Director Pratt and thanked her 
for her time serving on both the SGA and RWA Board of Directors.  

 
10. DIRECTORS’ COMMENTS   

None. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
With no further business to come before the Board, Chair Hunley adjourned the meeting 
at 11:17 a.m. 

 
By:  
 
______________________________ 
Chris Hunley, SGA Chair 

 

Attest: 

_____________________________ 
Ashley Flores, CMC, Clerk of the Board 



Agenda Item 3.2 

 

Sacramento Groundwater Authority  
June 12, 2025 
Board Meeting  

 Agenda Item 3.2 
Page 1 of 3 

  

 
Topic: Change Order 2025-02 for SGA Consulting Agreement 2024-001 for 

Professional Services between West Yost and SGA 
Type: New Business 
Item for: Consent Calendar 
Purpose: Action, Approve Change Order 2025-02 

 
 

SUBMITTED BY: 
Trevor Joseph,  
Manager of Technical Services 

 
PRESENTER: 

Trevor Joseph,  
Manager of Technical Services 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This is an action item for the Sacramento Groundwater Authority (SGA) Board of Directors to 
authorize the SGA Executive Director to execute a change order to West Yost’s existing Professional 
Services Agreement in the amount of $22,200 to advance Component 3: Water Quality 
Degradation Study under the North American Subbasin Department of Water Resources (DWR) 
Sustainable Groundwater Management Grant (Grant). The Executive Directors execution of this 
change order would be dependent on a future Grant agreement amendment with DWR that 
increases the funds available in component 3 to fully cover this requested change order amount 
(i.e. $22,200). 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION 
Approve change order 2025-02 to the Professional Services Agreement with West Yost in the 
amount of $22,200 to advance Component 3. 

 
 

BACKGROUND 
At the February 8, 2024, SGA Board Meeting, the Board of Directors waived SGA Policy 300.1 and 
authorized the Executive Director to enter into a Consulting Agreement with West Yost to support 
SGA’s ability to complete Component 3: Water Quality Degradation Study of the Grant. The total 
amount awarded by the Grant is $244,000 and the amount identified in West Yost’s Consultant 
Agreement is for a total Not-To-Exceed Budget of $230,800.  
 
On April 10, 2025, the SGA Board authorized the SGA Executive Director to execute change order 
#1 to increase West Yost’s contract by increasing the fee $13,200 to a Not-To-Exceed-Budget of 
amount of $244,000, equaling the maximum amount identified in the DWR Grant agreement for 
component #3.  This change order was executive to support cost increases associated with:  
 
• Greater than anticipated level of effort for outreach and coordination with Stakeholder 

agencies.  
• Greater than anticipated level of effort associated with data requests and receipt, including 

receipt of incomplete datasets and data received in unwieldy formats. These complexities 
required additional processing and coordination with multiple Stakeholder agencies.  



Agenda Item 3.2 

 

Sacramento Groundwater Authority  
June 12, 2025 
Board Meeting  

 Agenda Item 3.2 
Page 2 of 3 

  

• Additional project management tasks associated with grant component administration, 
including completing grant progress reports.  

• Additional Stakeholder engagement activities and presentations for the SGA Regional 
Contamination Issues Committee (RCIC) and Regional Water Authority (RWA) Water Quality 
Committee.  

• Extension of the overall project schedule.  
 
This staff report provides information to support a recommendation for a second change order to 
West Yost’s contract.   Execution of change order #2 would increase West Yost’s contract $22,200 
to a Not-To-Exceed Budget of $266,200.  The Executive Directors execution of this change order 
would be dependent on a future Grant agreement amendment with DWR that increases the funds 
available in component 3 to fully cover this requested change order amount (i.e. $22,200). This 
change order was executive to support cost increases associated with: 
 
• The list of evaluated contaminants of concern was expanded to include hexavalent 

chromium, manganese, and perchlorate. The original scope of work only included the 
evaluation of tetrachloroethylene (PCE).  

• The Study Area was expanded to include two additional participating agencies, encompassing 
four service area districts, not originally scoped for the Study. The Study area increased from 
28,413 acres to 45,233 acres. 

• Greater than anticipated level of effort for outreach and coordination with participating 
agencies.  

• Greater than anticipated level of effort associated with data requests and receipt, including 
receipt of incomplete datasets and data received in unwieldy formats. These complexities 
required additional processing and coordination with multiple Stakeholder agencies.  

• Additional project management tasks associated with grant component administration, 
including completing grant progress reports.  

• Additional Stakeholder engagement activities and presentations for the SGA Regional 
Contamination Issues Committee (RCIC) and Regional Water Authority (RWA) Water Quality 
Committee and multiple individual stakeholder meetings were added throughout the 
duration of the Study. Additionally, comments on the draft Report were received verbally 
instead of electronically, which included a separate meeting with the participating agency.  

• Extension of the overall project schedule.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The amount authorized through change order 2025-02, will be within the proposed amended 
Grant amount of $266,200. Change order #1 was authorized on April 10, 2024, increase the Master 
Services Agreement a total budget for the West Yost contract to a not to exceed of $244,000.  

 
FINDING/CONCLUSION 
Staff have identified and are requesting that additional funding of $22,200 be reallocated to Grant 
Component 3 awarded amount and the cost of effort identified in West Yost’s Consulting 
Agreement SGA 2024-001 dependent on a future Grant agreement amendment with DWR that 



Agenda Item 3.2 

 

Sacramento Groundwater Authority  
June 12, 2025 
Board Meeting  

 Agenda Item 3.2 
Page 3 of 3 

  

increases the funds available in component 3 to fully cover this requested change order amount 
(i.e. $22,200). 

 
ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment 1 – SGA Consultant Agreement 2024-001  
Attachment 2 – West Yost Supporting Letter and Amendment 
Attachment 3 – Change Order #2 



Agreement Number: SGA 2024-001 

SACRAMENTO GROUNDWATER AUTHORITY 

CONSULTING AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this 4th day of April 2024, by and 
between the Sacramento Groundwater Authority, a California joint exercise of powers authority 
("SGA"), and a West Yost ("Consultant"), concerning the Groundwater Quality 
Degradation Study (the "Services"). 

RECITALS: 

A. SGA has identified the need for the completion of a Groundwater Quality Degradation Study 
Pursuant to Component 3 of a Department of Water Resources (DWR) Grant Agreement 
Number 4600015622; and

B. Consultant was selected by SGA to provide the Services on the basis of its qualifications, 
experience, and facilities for performing the work contemplated; and

C. Consultant, by reason of its qualifications, experience and facilities for performing the type 
of work contemplated herein, has proposed to provide the Services; and

D. SGA desires to engage Consultant to perform the Services.

AGREEMENT: 

1. RETENTION OFCONSULTANT
SGA hereby retains Consultant for performance of the Services, and Consultant hereby accepts
such retention at the compensation described herein.

2. SCOPE OF SERVICES
The scope of the Services to be provided by Consultant under this Agreement, the schedule for
performance and the compensation to be paid to Consultant will be set forth in written task
orders ("Task Orders") agreed to in writing from time to time by SGA and Consultant.
Consultant agrees to perform all services described in Task Orders to this Agreement for the
compensation set forth therein. The services of the Task Order are severable, and not all of them
may be required by SGA. Consultant will initiate Task Order items only with written
authorization of SGA. The actual cost of each Task Order item may vary from the cost estimates
set forth in the Task Order, and funds allocated for one item may be shifted to one or more other
items under the Task Order, but within the Not-To-Exceed-Budget Amount for the Task Order.
The scope of services, schedule for performance and compensation to be paid to Consultant
under a Task Order can be revised if approved in writing by SGA and Consultant.

3. SCHEDULE

Consultant will perform the services in Task Orders in accordance with a schedule that is set
forth in the Task Order or otherwise agreed to in writing by SGA and Consultant.

4. COMPENSATION AND NOT-TO-EXCEED-BUDGET AMOUNT

8531/202403 REV SA WY MSA 08Mar24 WY Comments_ tmj-clean version.doc 

1 



















































 

2020 Research Park Drive 

Suite 100 

Davis CA 95618 

 530.756.5905 phone 

530.756.5991 fax 

westyost.com 

 
June 4, 2025  SENT VIA: EMAIL 
 
 
Trevor Joseph, PG, CHg SGA Consulting Agreement: 2024-001  
Manager of Technical Services West Yost Project: 1121-80-24-01 
Sacramento Groundwater Authority  
2295 Gateway Oaks Dr #100 
Sacramento, CA 95833 
 
 
SUBJECT: Request for Budget Augmentation: Sacramento Groundwater Authority Consulting 

Agreement Dated April 4, 2024, SGA 2024-001, Component 3 of DWR Grant Agreement 
Number 4600015622 

Dear Trevor, 

West Yost is providing professional services to the Sacramento Groundwater Authority (SGA) to conduct 
a Groundwater Quality Degradation Study (Study) pursuant to Component 3 of Department of Water 
Resources (DWR) Grant Agreement Number 4600015622 (Grant Agreement). West Yost is providing these 
services under Consulting Agreement SGA 2024-001 (Consulting Agreement). 

The purpose of this letter is to request authorization for budget augmentation to cover greater than 
anticipated costs for the work conducted to date to perform the Study. Factors leading to additional costs 
have been communicated with SGA staff during Study development. These factors are summarized below 
and more fully described throughout the rest of this Request for Budget Augmentation: 

• Extension of the overall project schedule (Task 1). 

• Additional Project Management Tasks (Task 1): Additional project management tasks 
associated with grant component administration, such as assistance with completing grant 
progress reports, were requested by SGA staff and fulfilled by West Yost.  

• Expanded Study Area and Participating Stakeholders (Task 2): The Study Area was 
expanded to include two additional participating agencies, encompassing four service area 
districts, not originally scoped for the Study. The Study area increased from 28,413 acres to 
45,233 acres. 

• Additional Constituents of Concern (Task 2): The list of evaluated contaminants of concern 
was expanded to include hexavalent chromium, manganese, and perchlorate. The original 
scope of work only included the evaluation of tetrachloroethylene (PCE). 

• Preparation of Formal Requests for Information (Task 2): The level of effort associated with 
data requests and receipt was greater than anticipated due to preparing and tracking formal 
requests for information, coordination and communication with participating agencies to 
receive needed information, and preprocessing incomplete or unformatted datasets, 
scanned images of paper files, and/or PDFs for use in the Study. These complexities resulted 
in additional processing and coordination with the participating agencies. 

• Additional Outreach and Coordination Efforts (Task 2): A greater than anticipated level of 
effort was required for outreach and coordination with participating agencies during the 
duration of the Study.  



Trevor Joseph, PG, CHg 
June 4, 2025 
Page 2 

 

 
 N-C-1121-80-24-01-WP-L-Budget Amendment Request No.02 

 

• Additional Stakeholder Engagement Activities (Task 3): Additional stakeholder engagement 
activities and presentations for the SGA Regional Contaminate Issues Council (RCIC), 
Regional Water Authority (RWA) Water Quality Committee, and multiple individual 
stakeholder meetings were added throughout the duration of the Study. Additionally, 
comments on the draft Report were received verbally instead of electronically, which 
included a separate meeting with the participating agency. 

Budget Augmentation Request 

The current authorized budget under the Consulting Agreement is $244,000. It is estimated we will need 
an additional $22,200 to complete the scope of work. This would bring the total anticipated budget to 
$266,200. Table 1 shows by task the current authorized budget, the requested additional budget, and 
requested revised total West Yost budget. 

Based on our conversations, an additional $22,200 may be available under the DWR Grant Agreement, 
pending approval from the DWR Grant Manager and the SGA Board. West Yost is requesting the SGA 
Board’s authorization of the $22,200 to our Consulting Agreement to address out-of-scope services 
bringing the total authorized budget to $266,200. 

West Yost proposes to continue performing services under the Grant Agreement on a time-and-expenses 
basis in accordance with our 2024 Billing Rate Schedule (Attachment A).  

 

  



West Yost Task DWR Grant Category and Task Authorized Budget

Costs through 

5/9/2025

Estimated Cost to 

Complete

Estimated Cost at 

Completion

Projected Cost 

Variance

Proposed 

Task-Level Budget 

Increase

Proposed 

Task-Level

 Budget

Variance for 

Proposed 

Task-Level Budgets

Task 001.0 - Component Administration Category a $20,000.00 $19,899.99 $100.01 $20,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $20,000.00 -$                       

Task 002.1 - Compile Existing Information Category b (Task 1 - Review Existing Studies) $36,100.00 $36,067.25 $0.00 $36,100.00 $0.00 $0.00 $36,100.00 -$                       

Task 002.2 - Prepare Hydrogeologic Conceptual Model Category b (Task 1 - Review Existing Studies) $37,200.00 $35,874.00 $1,300.00 $37,200.00 $0.00 $0.00 $37,200.00 -$                       

Task 002.3 - Prepare Conceptual Model for 

Contaminant Transport
Category b (Task 1 - Review Existing Studies) $25,400.00 $25,409.50 $0.00 $25,400.00 $0.00 $0.00 $25,400.00 -$                       

Task 002.4 - Assess Threats to Existing and Future 

Wells
Category b (Task 2 - Groundwater Modeling Forecast) $32,700.00 $32,687.50 $0.00 $32,700.00 $0.00 $0.00 $32,700.00 -$                       

Task 002.5 - Prepare Groundwater Degradation Study 

Report
Category b (Task 1 and Task 2) $79,600.00 $80,639.00 $21,199.99 $101,800.00 -$22,200.00 $22,200.00 $101,800.00 -$                       

Task 003.0 - Engagement / Outreach Category e $13,000.00 $12,897.96 $100.00 $13,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $13,000.00 -$                       

$244,000.00 $243,475.20 $22,700.00 $266,200.00 -$22,200.00 $22,200.00 $266,200.00 -$                       Totals

N-C-1121-80-24-01-WP-L-BUDGAMD

Sacramento Groundwater Authority

Component 3 of DWR Grant Agreement 

Last Revised: 04-01-2025

dlamb
Typewriter
Table 1. Sacramento Groundwater Authority Groundwater Degradation Study Project Budget Analysis



Trevor Joseph, PG, CHg 
June 4, 2025 
Page 4 

 

 
 N-C-1121-80-24-01-WP-L-Budget Amendment Request No.02 

 

Budget Augmentation Request Details 

The following provides additional information, by work task, on the out-of-scope work leading to 
additional costs and this augmentation request. While we have documented the additional work by task, 
it is our understanding that Tasks 1 and 3 cannot be adjusted. Therefore, we propose that available funds 
under the DWR Grant Agreement be authorized and applied entirely to Task 2.  

Task 1. Component Administration (DWR Category a) 

Based on previous discussions with SGA staff and our understanding of the DWR grant agreement, Task 1 
budget cannot be modified. While no budget augmentation is requested for this task, we are providing 
detail regarding additional services performed under this Task.  

The estimated level of effort for this task was based on a project duration of ten months and included ten 
virtual meetings to discuss progress status with SGA. The project has been underway for approximately 
15 months. One additional month of work is anticipated to complete the report and close out the project. 
The extended schedule has increased the level of effort necessary to complete this task.  Additionally, SGA 
requested that West Yost assist with the DWR grant progress reports which was not included in the 
original scope of work.    

Task 2. Technical Tasks (DWR Category b) 

Task 2 of the DWR Grant Agreement Category b consists of the following authorized subtasks: 

• Subtask 2.1 - Compile Existing Information  

• Subtask 2.2 - Prepare Hydrogeologic Conceptual Model 

• Subtask 2.3 - Prepare Contaminant Conceptual Model 

• Subtask 2.4 - Assess Threats to Existing and Future Wells 

• Subtask 2.5 - Prepare Groundwater Degradation Study Report 

  



Trevor Joseph, PG, CHg 
June 4, 2025 
Page 5 

 

 
 N-C-1121-80-24-01-WP-L-Budget Amendment Request No.02 

 

Each subtask under Task 2 has been completed except for the final Groundwater Degradation Study 
Report. West Yost is currently preparing the final document based on comments received from 
stakeholder agency staff from Sacramento Suburban Water District (SSWD).  

The additional services performed under Task 2 is detailed below.  

Expanded Study Area and Participating Stakeholders: The stakeholder list in the proposed scope was 
limited to SSWD and Carmichael Water District (CWD). Data compilation was assumed to be for these two 
agencies. Two additional agencies, California American Water (CalAm) and Citrus Heights Water District 
(CHWD), were added to the stakeholder list of participating agencies at the start of the Study. Additional 
details are discussed below that expanded the scope of work. 

Following the addition of CalAm and CHWD, the Study Area was subsequently expanded to include the 
service areas of three CalAm districts (Antelope, Arden, and Lincoln Oaks) and CHWD. Including these 
additional agencies resulted in a more robust Study, however, the level of effort required to complete the 
Study increased. 

Additional Constituents of Concern:  The original scope of work assumed PCE as the only constituent of 
concern (COC) to be addressed in the Study.  Hexavalent chromium, manganese, and perchlorate were 
identified during the kickoff meeting and were added to the Study COC list. COCs other than PCE were not 
accounted for in the initial scope of work and increased the level of effort needed to complete the water 
quality analysis. Adding these additional COCs added value to the Study but increased the level of effort 
necessary to complete this task.  

Preparation of Formal Requests for Information: During the data compilation phase of the Study, 
stakeholder agencies requested West Yost prepare formal Requests for Information (RFI). These RFIs were 
specifically developed for each participating stakeholder and were modified to exclude information West 
Yost already had from previous projects. Preparing these formal RFIs were not accounted for in the initial 
scope of work and increased the level of effort for this task. 

Additional Outreach and Coordination Efforts: Additional outreach and coordination were required for 
all stakeholder agencies due to incomplete data deliveries and datasets delivered in unwieldy and in some 
cases unusable format. Over a roughly two-month period, West Yost conducted additional follow up with 
stakeholder agencies to complete data gaps and to receive data in usable format(s). Critical information 
still missing or received in unusable formats after the two-month period were ultimately sought through 
publicly available data repositories and third-party reports (e.g., review of DWR’s Online System for Well 
Completion Reports to identify missing well logs associated with stakeholder wells) and underwent 
additional processing by West Yost prior to use in the Study. Data synthesis, formatting, and processing 
exceeded the anticipated level of effort due to missing or incomplete data, or when data was delivered in 
an incompatible format. This additional effort was necessary to compile complete, usable data but 
increased the level of effort and exceeded the budget for this task.  

The authorized budget for Task 2 is $211,000. A budget augmentation for additional funds under the Grant 
of $22,200 is requested.  



Trevor Joseph, PG, CHg 
June 4, 2025 
Page 6 

 

 
 N-C-1121-80-24-01-WP-L-Budget Amendment Request No.02 

 

Task 3. Engagement / Outreach (DWR Category e) 

Based on previous discussions with SGA staff and our understanding of the DWR grant agreement, Task 3 
budget cannot be modified. While no budget augmentation is requested for this task, we are providing 
detail regarding additional services performed under this Task.  

Task 3 is complete. West Yost participated in nine public outreach or stakeholder engagement meetings. 
The original scope of work included West Yost participation in three public outreach or stakeholder 
engagement meetings consisting of a kickoff meeting and two stakeholder engagement meetings to 
present the draft and final Report. The following is a list of the comprehensive public outreach or 
stakeholder engagement meetings that West Yost participated in:  

• One stakeholder engagement Kick-Off meeting;  

• One public outreach meeting; 

• Two individual stakeholder meetings with CWD and SSWD; 

• Two RCIC meetings in April 2024 and October 2024;  

• One joint RCIC/RWA Water Quality Committee meeting in February 2025;  

• One individual stakeholder meeting with SSWD to receive and record verbal comments on the 
draft Report; and, 

• One stakeholder engagement meeting to present the draft Report. 

Closing 

West Yost is proud of the comprehensive Study developed for the Sacramento area through SGA, the 
stakeholder agencies, and as funded by the DWR grant. We have no doubt the additional level of effort 
added important additional detail regarding water quality within the Study Area. We request your written 
authorization of the additional $22,200 to our Consultant Agreement. Please contact me at (831) 706-5135 
or csorensen@westyost.com if you have any questions or need additional information. 

Sincerely, 

WEST YOST  

 
 
Clay Sorensen 
Senior Hydrogeologist I 
 
 

Attachments A. West Yost 2024 Billing Rate Schedule 

 

mailto:csorensen@westyost.com


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

West Yost 2024 Billing Rate Schedule 

 

 

 

Attachment A 



(Effective January 1, 2024, through December 31, 2024)*

POSITIONS

ENGINEERING
Principal/Vice President $355
Engineer/Scientist/Geologist Manager I / II $335 / $351
Principal Engineer/Scientist/Geologist I / II $302 / $322
Senior Engineer/Scientist/Geologist I / II $272 / $286
Associate Engineer/Scientist/Geologist I / II $226 / $243
Engineer/Scientist/Geologist I / II $176 / $205
Engineering Aide $106
Field Monitoring Services $131
Administrative I / II / III / IV $97 / $121 / $145 / $160
ENGINEERING TECHNOLOGY
Engineering Tech Manager I / II $349 / $351
Principal Tech Specialist I / II $320 / $331
Senior Tech Specialist I / II $293 / $306
Senior GIS Analyst $265
GIS Analyst $251
Technical Specialist I / II / III / IV $187 / $213 / $239 / $267
Technical Analyst I / II $134 / $160
Technical Analyst Intern $108
Cross-Connection Control Specialist I / II / III / IV $140 / $151 / $170 / $189
CAD Manager $211
CAD Designer I / II $164 / $185
CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT
Senior Construction Manager $338
Construction Manager I / II / III / IV $201 / $215 / $228 / $289
Resident Inspector (Prevailing Wage Groups 4 / 3 / 2 / 1) $181 / $201 / $224 / $232
Apprentice Inspector $164
CM Administrative I / II $87 / $118
Field Services $232

2024 Billing Rate Schedule

LABOR CHARGES (DOLLARS PER HOUR)

■  Hourly rates include charges for technology and communication, such as general and CAD computer software,
    telephone calls, routine in-house copies/prints, postage, miscellaneous supplies, and other incidental project expenses.
■  Outside services, such as vendor reproductions, prints, and shipping; major West Yost reproduction efforts; as well as 
    engineering supplies, etc., will be billed at the actual cost plus 15%.
■  The Federal Mileage Rate will be used for mileage charges and will be based on the Federal Mileage Rate applicable to
    when the mileage costs were incurred. Travel other than mileage will be billed at cost.
■  Subconsultants will be billed at actual cost plus 10%.
■  Expert witness services, research, technical review, analysis, preparation, and meetings will be billed at 150% of standard hourly 
    rates. Expert witness testimony and depositions will be billed at 200% of standard hourly rates.
■  A finance charge of 1.5% per month (an annual rate of 18%) on the unpaid balance will be added to invoice amounts
    if not paid within 45 days from the date of the invoice.

* This schedule is updated annually Page 1 of 2



(Effective January 1, 2024, through December 31, 2024)*

Equipment Charges

EQUIPMENT

2" Purge Pump & Control Box $300 / day
Aquacalc / Pygmy or AA Flow Meter $28 / day
Emergency SCADA System $35 / day
Field Vehicles (Groundwater) $1 / mile
Gas Detector $80 / day
Generator $60 / day
Hydrant Pressure Gauge $10 / day
Hydrant Pressure Recorder, Impulse (Transient) $55 / day
Hydrant Pressure Recorder, Standard $40 / day
Low Flow Pump Back Pack $135 / day
Low Flow Pump Controller $200 / day
Powers Water Level Meter $32 / day
Precision Water Level Meter 300ft $30 / day
Precision Water Level Meter 500ft $40 / day
Precision Water Level Meter 700ft $45 / day
QED Sample Pro Bladder Pump $65 / day
Skydio 2+ Drone (2 hour mimimum) $100 / hour
Storage Tank $20 / day
Sump Pump $24 / day
Transducer Communications Cable $10 / day
Transducer Components (per installation) $23 / day
Trimble GPS – Geo 7x $220 / day
Tube Length Counter $22 / day
Turbidity Meter $30 / day
Turbidity Meter (2100Q Portable) $35 / day
Vehicle (Construction Management) $10 / hour
Water Flow Probe Meter $20 / day
Water Quality Meter $50 / day
Water Quality Multimeter $185 / day
Well Sounder $30 / day

BILLING RATES

2024 Billing Rate Schedule

* This schedule is updated annually Page 2 of 2



Agenda Item 3.3 

 

Sacramento Groundwater Authority 
June 12, 2025 
Board Meeting  

 Agenda Item 3.3 
Page 1 of 2 

  

 
Topic: Change Order 2025-02 for SGA Consulting Agreement 2024-001 for 

Professional Services between Woodard & Curran and SGA 
Type: New Business 
Item for: Consent Calendar 
Purpose: Action, Approve Change Order 2025-02 

 
 
 

 
SUBMITTED BY: 

Trevor Joseph,  
Manager of Technical Services 

 
PRESENTER: 

Trevor Joseph,  
Manager of Technical Services 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This is an action item for the Sacramento Groundwater Authority (SGA) Board of Directors to 
authorize the SGA Executive Director to execute Change Order 2025-02 to increase Woodard & 
Curran’s professional services agreement in the amount of $43,060 for water quality sampling and 
analysis.  Water quality sampling and analysis supports implementation of the Northern American 
Subbasin (NASb) Groundwater Sustainability Plan (GSP) consistent with the Sustainable 
Groundwater Management Act (SGMA). 
  
STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION 
Authorize the SGA Executive Director to execute Change Order 2025-02 to increase Woodard & 
Curran’s professional services agreement in the amount of $43,060.  

 
BACKGROUND 
At the August 2024 Board meeting SGA entered into a professional services agreement with 
Woodard & Curran, Inc. to support SGMA implementation and other groundwater management 
activities including but not limited to an amendment to the NASb GSP and groundwater modeling 
support.   

 
To date Woodard & Curran has assisted staff in completing the Water Year 2024 Annual Report in 
accordance with the SGMA and GSP regulations and start a series of tasks to begin the 5-year GSP 
evaluation.   
 
At the April 10, 2025 SGA Board meeting, the Board of Directors authorized the SGA Executive 
Director to execute Change Order #1 (e.g., TO 24-02) with Woodard & Curran for the remaining 
tasks 4 and 7 which will enable SGA to complete the responsibilities under SGMA to fully evaluate 
and amend the 2021 GSP for the NASb.  
 
As identified in Table 10-2, Summary of Implementation Actions, of the NASb 2021 GSP, one of the 
GSP implementation actions is the collection of water quality samples in the shallow water quality 
monitoring network in the fall of odd numbered years (e.g., 2025) to be included as an appendix in 
the applicable water years annual report.   Task 8 – Water Year 2025 Water Quality Sampling 
($43,060) will provide that service for SGA. 



Agenda Item 3.3 

 

Sacramento Groundwater Authority 
June 12, 2025 
Board Meeting  

 Agenda Item 3.3 
Page 2 of 2 

  

 
FISCAL IMPACT 
This change order of $43,060 will increase the total contracted amount from $806,395 to a not-to-
exceed amount of $849,455. Funding for this effort is provided within the 2021 GSP 5-year 
Implementation Budget and the SGM Department of Water Resources (DWR) grant award. 
 
FINDING/CONCLUSION 
Staff recommends the SGA Board of Director’s authorize the SGA Executive Director to execute 
Change Order 2025-02 to increase Woodard & Curran’s professional services agreement in the 
amount of $43,060 for water quality sampling and analysis support.  
 

 
ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment 1 – Agreement with Woodard & Curran and Change Order 2025-01 

   Attachment 2 – Change Order 2025-02 



















10/25/2024





























Page 1 of 12 

Support Services for Sustainable Groundwater Management Act 
(SGMA) Implementation and Other Groundwater Management 

Activities 
Scope of Work 
October 1, 2024 

TASK 1: PROJECT MANAGEMENT & COORDIATION 

Task 1 focuses on the administrative and managerial efforts required to execute the project. This task 
includes general project activities internal to the GSP development team; project management meetings, 
budgeting, contract management, agency coordination, and project reporting. 

1.1   Kick-Off Meeting 

Upon Notice to Proceed from the Sacramento Groundwater Authority (SGA), the Project Manager will 
convene a kick-off meeting with SGA, North American Subbasin (NASb) Groundwater Sustainability 
Agencies (GSAs), and key Woodard & Curran staff. The meeting will review the roles and responsibilities, 
schedule, and deliverables. An internal roster and communication preferences will be outlined. A 
PowerPoint slide deck will be prepared and presented, containing an initial schedule of internal 
coordination meetings will be provided, key technical milestones as well as a high-level plan for the suite 
of meetings outlined in Task 2.  

Deliverables: 

• Kick-off meeting roster, agenda, PowerPoint slides

1.2  Coordination Meetings 

Woodard & Curran will prepare for and attend bi-weekly (every two weeks) meetings with SGA. The 
purpose of these meetings will be to communicate progress, receive feedback and information, 
coordinate the work effort, and troubleshoot challenges. These meetings will be 1-hour in length and 
conducted virtually. An estimated total of 24 coordination meetings will be scheduled over the course of 
GSP evaluation, revision/amendment, and adoption. Discussion topics and a summary of key issues and 
decisions will be developed for each meeting. 

On an as-needed basis limited to the budgeted hours, Woodard & Curran will coordinate with DWR to 
facilitate discussions around proposed modifications and amendments to the NASb GSP to address the 
Recommended Corrective Actions, to obtain feedback as required to inform decisions, and to generally 
solicit input as to acceptability on revised GSP chapters. 

Deliverables: 

• Bi-weekly coordination meeting materials: agenda and, if relevant, presentation slides



Page 2 of 12 

Assumptions: 

• All meetings will be held virtually and be one hour in length.
• At least one member of the Woodard & Curran team will attend every meeting, with additional

Woodard & Curran team members attending at the discretion of the Project Manager.
• 12 “as needed” meetings may occur outside the scheduled bi-weekly meetings. These meetings

include those with SGA to discuss project-related items with up to two Woodard & Curran staff in
attendance.

1.3 Intrabasin GSA Coordination Support 

Woodard & Curran will support SGA with intrabasin coordination activities resulting between the Subbasin’s 
GSAs. These support activities may include but are not limited to: SGMA implementation progress updates, 
upcoming meeting topics or information on previous meeting discussions, technical/regulatory guidance, 
and/or check-in meetings. It is assumed check-in meetings with intrabasin GSAs, if needed, would occur up 
to four times during the project timeline, may include one or more GSA, and will last no more than one 
hour. 

Deliverables: 

• Meeting agendas

1.4 Interbasin Coordination Meetings 

Woodard & Curran will hold up to four coordination meetings with the four neighboring basins’ GSAs to 
facilitate discussions around proposed modifications and amendments to the NASb GSP and how these 
modifications may impact the neighboring basins. It is assumed coordination meetings will be held 
individually by basin and be one hour in length. 

Deliverables: 

• Meeting agendas

1.5 Contract Administration 

Subtask 1.5 includes monthly invoicing and progress reporting, general communications with SGA, and 
other actions required to complete the scope of work identified in the project contract. 

Deliverables: 

• Monthly invoices and progress reports



Page 3 of 12 

TASK 2: OUTREACH & COMMUNICATIONS 

2.1  Public Meetings 

Woodard & Curran will host and provide technical-related support for up to two meetings for the general 
public. It is anticipated that information prepared for these meetings will be related to updates on the 
amended GSP, Periodic Evaluation, and/or Water Year 2024 Annual Report.  

Deliverables: 

• Meeting agendas, PowerPoint presentation materials, and minutes

Assumptions: 

• Each meeting will be up to two hours in length.
• Attendance is anticipated to be virtual but may also be in-person depending on SGA preference,

meeting topics, and/or level of interest from the public and stakeholders in the Subbasin. If held
in-person, SGA will be responsible for the meeting venue.

2.2  Sustainable Management Criteria Outreach 

Given the potential changes in sustainable management criteria, this task provides targeted outreach and 
engagement related to potential modifications of sustainable management criteria, which may include 
meetings with regulatory agencies, NGOs, and other relevant stakeholder groups. It is assumed up to four 
meetings will be held with these entities.  

Deliverables: 

• Meeting agendas, PowerPoint presentation materials, and minutes

Assumptions: 

• All meetings will be up to two hours in length, held virtually.

2.3  Website Migration and 1 Year Hosting 

Woodard & Curran will migrate the existing NASb website to a new server, which includes the following 
activities:  

• Conducting a backup of the current website, including files and databases;

• Setting up the new server environment with the necessary software and configurations;

• Transferring the website files and databases to the new server;

• Updating DNS settings to point to the new server;

• Testing the website on the new server to verify functionalities are working correctly; and



Page 4 of 12 

• Providing post-migration support to address issues that may arise.

Additionally, Woodard & Curran will host and maintain the web site for one year. 

Deliverables: 

• Migrated website

Assumptions: 

• SGA will provide necessary administrative access to the current server
• SGA will provide access allowing for DNS updates
• The website may be down for a period of 1 business day to facilitate the migration

2.4 Website Updates 

In coordination with SGA, Woodard & Curran will provide updates to the North American Subbasin GSA 
website (www.nasbgroundwater.org). This website will be the primary tool used for public communication 
and outreach, and will provide information about SGMA, proposed GSP revisions to address the 
Recommended Corrective Actions identified in the Department of Water Resources (DWRs) determination 
letter, and meeting schedules. 

Deliverables: 

• Updated website materials

Assumptions: 

• Appropriate access will be provided to allow updates to the website.

2.5 DMS Needs Assessment 

Woodard & Curran will develop a needs assessment for a potential revised DMS, the assessment will involve 
one coordination meeting between Woodard & Curran, SGA, and others as directed by SGA. The meeting 
will allow for a conversation on the current DMS, other DMS’s, local needs, and potential solutions. A Needs 
Assessment Memorandum will be developed to outline the desired features of a potential new DMS. 

Deliverables: 

• Meeting agendas, PowerPoint presentation materials, and minutes

Assumptions: 

• Woodard & Curran will be provided access to the DMS, along with underlying datasets.
• The meeting is assumed to be held virtually and up to two hours in length.

http://www.nasbgroundwater.org/


Page 5 of 12 

TASK 3: PERIODIC EVALUATION 

Woodard & Curran will prepare a Periodic Evaluation based on the requirements presented in the California 
Water Code and the GSP Regulations. DWR guidance will be considered as part of development, but the 
primary approach is to meet the regulatory requirements, provide value to local groundwater management, 
and provide a cost-effective document. 

This Periodic Evaluation Report will be prepared under this task and may include the following sections: 

• Introduction – introduces the Periodic Evaluation and the regulatory requirements of the
evaluation.

• Significant New Information – describes any new information related to the basin setting,
hydrogeologic conceptual model, water use, the CoSANA model, and the monitoring network
that the GSAs have acquired during the evaluation cycle and whether it warrants changes to any
aspect of the GSP. This section also provides an evaluation of the basin setting based on new
information or changes in basin water use and an assessment of the GSP’s monitoring networks
for each applicable sustainability indicator.

• Progress Towards Sustainability – evaluates current groundwater conditions for each applicable
sustainability indicator relative to the sustainable management criteria established in the GSP,
modifications made to sustainable management criteria since the original GSP, and impacts of
sustainable management criteria on adjacent basins.

• Status of Projects and Management Actions – summarizes the GSA implementation activities
related to projects and management actions that took place over the course of the evaluation
cycle.

• GSA Activities – describes new authorities, if any, the Subbasin’s GSAs have gained, established
or exercised since the GSP submittal and summarizes what has been implemented to advance
groundwater sustainability; discusses the coordination efforts and activities that occurred
between the GSAs, hydrologically connected basins, and land use agencies in addition to federal,
state, and local agency coordination that was relative to SGMA implementation; and also includes
any additional information that helps describe progress made towards achieving the sustainability
goal for the basin.

• Summary of Proposed or Compiled Revisions to Plan Elements – summarizes the key take-
aways from the Periodic Evaluation, including a brief overview of next steps and how the GSAs
intend to use this evaluation to continue moving the basin towards their sustainability goal.

It is anticipated that sections will reuse or cross-reference materials in the Annual Reports or the 
Amended GSP to reduce the level of effort, reduce the review time required by GSA staff, and to improve 
consistency between the annual reports, Periodic Evaluation, and Amended GSP. 

An Administrative Draft NASb Periodic Evaluation will be prepared for GSA review. Comments received 
will be incorporated into the document to produce a Draft NASb Periodic Evaluation. The Draft NASb 
Periodic Evaluation will be posted on the North American Subbasin website at www.nasbgroundwater.org 
for public review. Comments received will be considered and incorporated into the evaluation as 
appropriate. The Final NASb Periodic Evaluation will be submitted to DWR before January 24, 2027, as 
required by DWR’s determination letter. 

Deliverables: 

http://www.nasbgroundwater.org/


Page 6 of 12 

• Administrative Draft NASb Periodic Evaluation
• Draft NASb Periodic Evaluation
• Final NASb Periodic Evaluation

Assumptions: 

• One set of comments will be provided from the GSAs on the Administrative Draft to avoid
conflicting comments.

• All deliverables are provided electronically

TASK 4: GSP AMENDMENT 

Woodard & Curran will prepare an amendment to the existing NASb GSP. It is anticipated that the 
amendment will address modifications to the chronic lowering of groundwater levels sustainable 
management criteria, refinements to degraded water quality, inelastic land subsidence, and depletions of 
interconnected surface water sustainable management criteria, and new data generated during the 
evaluation cycle. In addition, responses to the Recommended Corrective Actions in the 2023 NASb GSP 
Determination Letter be incorporated in the update, as appropriate. 

4.1 NASb GSP Amendment 

Using the analyses, model updates, and other work efforts completed under this contract, each chapter in 
the 2022 NASb GSP will be evaluated and revised as appropriate. Revisions will take place in the Basin 
Setting section (including HCM, Groundwater Conditions and Water Budgets), the Sustainable 
Management Criteria section, the Monitoring Networks section, and Projects and Management Actions 
section, to incorporate revisions to address DWR’s Recommended Corrective Actions, to incorporate 
modifications desired by the GSAs, and to make the GSP reflective of current conditions and progress on 
GSP implementation.  

Specifically, the groundwater conditions section will incorporate the latest available data to characterize 
conditions. Updates to the characterization of depletions of interconnected surface water are anticipated 
to be made based on available guidance from DWR and on the modeling results from Task 7.1. 
Characterization of GDEs will also be updated, also supported by analysis under Task 7.1. The water 
budget section will incorporate the latest available modeling results and associated changes to 
sustainable yield, if warranted. The SMC sections will reflect the technical analyses performed under Task 
4.2 to revise SMC to reflect local management needs and to address DWR’s recommended corrective 
actions. The Projects and Management Actions section will update existing projects, adding and removing 
projects were necessary based on SGA input.  

Minor revisions will be made as appropriate in other GSP chapters, including the Agency Information, Plan 
Area, and Notice and Communications sections to reflect current GSP implementation. Revisions will also 
be made to reconcile inaccurate or inconsistent figures, tables, and text. And the executive summary will 
be updated to reflect the modifications made in the body of the document.  

Document compilation and review cycles are included in Tasks 4.3, 4.4, and 4.5. Coordination activities 
associated with this subtask and other subtasks within Task 4 are included in Tasks 1 and 2. All revisions 
will be tracked to allow for ease of review by SGA, the other GSAs, and stakeholders. 



Page 7 of 12 

4.2 Technical Analyses 

Based on SGA’s intent to revise groundwater level sustainable management criteria and DWR’s RCAs related 
to sustainable management criteria for water quality, land subsidence, and interconnected surface water, 
Woodard & Curran anticipates analyses be conducted to quantify and justify the revisions to these criteria. 
These analyses are a well impact analysis based on revisions to groundwater level sustainable management 
criteria; evaluating water quality contaminants of concern and the potential impacts of the current 
undesirable result definition; and evaluating potential sustainable management criteria for land subsidence 
outside of using groundwater levels as a proxy.  

Revisions to the groundwater level SMC will be explored in coordination with SGA. Analyses will include 
comparison to SMCs in neighboring subbasins, the ability of current or potential SMCs to allow for 
anticipated future conjunctive water management in the subbasin, and the ability of current or potential 
SMC to avoid significant and unreasonable effects to beneficial users or uses. 

Revisions to water quality will revisit assumptions associated with the definition of significant and 
unreasonable effects related to public water systems. Other SMC will also be reconsidered based on 
modifications to this definition. 

Revisions to the SMC for land subsidence will consider potential modifications to incorporate InSAR data 
or other physical measures of land subsidence. Continued use of groundwater levels as a proxy will also be 
considered. 

It is anticipated analyses related to interconnected surface water will be conducted under Task 7: Modeling 
Support.  

4.3 Draft Amended GSP Compilation & Preparation 

Woodard & Curran will prepare a Draft Amended GSP following revisions to the original NASb GSP. Text, 
figure, table revisions, latest modeling results, and technical analyses conducted will be incorporated into 
this draft for NASb GSAs’ review. All GSP chapter and appendices revisions will be completed in redline 
strikeout versions and submitted to all Subbasin GSAs.  

Deliverables: 

• Administrative Draft NASb Amended GSP

Assumptions: 

• Native files used in preparation of the previous GSP will be provided by SGA
• One set of comments will be provided from the GSAs on the Administrative Draft to avoid

conflicting comments.
• All deliverables are provided electronically

4.4 Respond to GSA Comments on Amended GSP 

Once reviewed by the GSAs, comments will be incorporated as appropriate, again in a redline strikeout 
version. Coordination will occur with GSA as needed to address the comments. 

Deliverables: 



Page 8 of 12 

• Draft NASb Amended GSP

Assumptions: 

• All deliverables are provided electronically

4.5 Public Comment & Final GSP Preparation 

Woodard & Curran will prepare and post the public notice of intent to adopt the GSP. It is anticipated that 
this notice will be sent in early 2026. Once the clean public draft version of the Amended NASb GSP has 
been completed in Task 4.1, the document will be released for a public review period. Following the public 
review period, all comments received will be tabulated, reviewed, and incorporated as appropriate into 
the Amended NASb GSP. The amended GSP will then be finalized for adoption. 

PowerPoint slides summarizing the Amended GSP process and major modifications to the plan will be 
developed and shared with the GSAs for their use in adoption hearing. Attendance at adoption hearings is 
not included in this scope of work. Once adopted, Woodard & Curran will support SGA on submitting the 
GSP to DWR. In parallel with preparation of the final amended GSP, an updated Elements Guide will be 
prepared and submitted to DWR along with updates to any modified representative monitoring network 
and sustainable management criteria. 

Deliverables: 

• Final adopted Amended NASb GSP
• Public Notice of Intent to Adopt
• Compilation of and response to comments

Assumptions: 

• GSAs are responsible for their own individual noticing and conduct of a public hearing prior to
adoption.

TASK 5: ANNUAL REPORT 

The Water Year (WY) 2024 Annual Report for the North American Subbasin is due to DWR on April 1, 2025. 
It must include three main sections: General Information, Basin Conditions, and Plan Implementation 
Progress, as per California regulations. The general approach to the Annual Report will be to retain the 
structure and materials of previous Annual Reports, updating when necessary to incorporate new 
information or different approaches for reporting. The following key activities will be completed for the 
annual report:  

1. Project Management and Coordination: Oversight of the report’s development, including quality
assurance, progress reporting, and coordination among applicable parties (i.e., SGA, GSAs, GEI).

2. Data Collection and Analysis:

a. Groundwater Elevation: Compile recent and update existing data, create contour maps for
seasonal highs and lows, and generate hydrographs for monitoring wells.



Page 9 of 12 

b. Groundwater Extraction: Present estimates by sector and methods, along with a map of
extraction locations.

c. Surface Water Supply: Summarize annual surface water use data, including sources and
calculation methods.

d. Total Water Use: Calculate total water use based on groundwater and surface water data.

e. Land Subsidence: Compile InSAR and local GPS station data and prepare maps showing
land surface elevation changes over various periods.

f. Groundwater Quality: Summarize current water quality conditions, specifically related to
constituents of concern defined in the GSP.

g. Change in Groundwater Storage: Use CoSANA model outputs to estimate storage changes,
accompanied by relevant maps and figures.

3. CoSANA Model Hydrology Extension: CoSANA model hydrology will be extended through the
end of WY 2024 to support the water budget and storage change visualizations.

4. GSP Implementation Progress: Report on the advancement towards interim milestones and
management actions, including any new projects.

Overall, Woodard & Curran will lead the report development and coordinating with the Subbasin GSAs to 
ensure comprehensive data collection and analysis. 

The results of the previous activities will be used to develop the WY 2024 Annual Report, including an 
executive summary that highlights the key contents of the annual report. The following sections will be 
included, with the outline subject to change:  

1. Executive Summary

2. Introduction

3. Hydrologic Conditions

4. Water Supply

5. Groundwater Levels

6. Change in Groundwater Storage

7. GSP Implementation Progress

8. Sustainability Indicators

9. References

A Draft Annual Report will be prepared by February 28, 2025, for SGA and GSA review and comment. 
Comments will be incorporated into a Final Annual Report which will be distributed electronically (PDF). If 
directed by SGA, Woodard & Curran will also upload the Final Annual Report and supporting 
documentation to the SGMA Portal. 

Deliverables: 



Page 10 of 12 

• Draft WY 2024 Annual Report
• Final WY 2024 Annual Report

Assumptions: 

• One set of comments will be provided from the GSAs on the Draft Report
• All deliverables are provided electronically
• Native files used in preparation of previous Annual Reports will be provided by SGA

TASK 6: GROUNDWATER MONITORING 

6.1 Water Level Data Collection 

Groundwater elevation measurements have been collected by Subbasin GSAs prior to and during the 
implementation of SGMA-related activities. The GSP states groundwater elevations are measured 
biannually, during the spring and fall of each calendar year. Woodard & Curran would oversee the collection 
of groundwater elevation data, which would be performed by Blaine Tech. A Woodard & Curran staff 
geologist will be present with Blaine Tech during the spring 2025 sampling event, with assistance from GEI, 
to determine well locations, discuss well access, and collect other information needed for performing future 
sampling events. The task lead for the Sampling & Other Data Collection task will coordinate with Blaine 
Tech on sampling activities with as-needed support from the Deputy Project Manager and GSP/Annual 
Report task lead. Following each sampling event, Blaine Tech will provide Woodard & Curran with water 
elevation data for all monitoring wells, which will be tabulated and provided to SGA. 

Assumptions: 

• Data collection activities would take place during the spring and fall of the 2025 calendar year.
• Up to 70 wells would be measured during each event.
• It is assumed each event would occur over two days.

Deliverables: 

• Groundwater elevation data for spring 2025 and fall 2025

TASK 7: MODELING SUPPORT 

Task 7 includes all work efforts required to update and calibrate the CoSANA model, address DWR’s 
Recommended Corrective Actions, and inform the Subbasin GSAs with additional analyses related to revised 
sustainable management criteria.  

7.1 Interconnected Surface Water and GDE Analyses 

In the July 2023 Determination Letter, DWR staff recommended that the GSAs “Consider utilizing the 
interconnected surface water guidance, as appropriate, when issued by the Department to establish 
quantifiable minimum thresholds, measurable objectives, and management actions.” On September 24, 
2024, DWR released Techniques for Estimating Interconnected Surface Water Depletion Caused by 
Groundwater Use, the Department’s guidance document for establishing sustainable management criteria 
for the depletions of interconnected surface water sustainability indicator. The guidance presents numerical, 



Page 11 of 12 

analytical, and statistical methods to estimate interconnected surface water depletions and how to apply 
these methods to estimate the location, quantity, and timing of those depletions. Woodard & Curran will 
prepare assumptions related to this analysis, perform modeling scenarios, evaluate the estimated 
depletions, and incorporate the results of the modeling scenarios into the sustainable management criteria 
for interconnected surface waters.  

Additionally, modeling support will be used to further evaluate the presence and conditions of groundwater 
dependent ecosystems (GDEs) present within the Subbasin. GDEs will be identified and evaluated using the 
Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) to track vegetation health and confirm the likelihood that 
the vegetation is groundwater-supported to reflect current conditions. This will be completed based on a 
desktop review of the potential GDEs identified in the GSP and updated to reflect a combination of observed 
and simulated aquifer conditions. The resulting work under this subtask will then be presented in the 
Periodic Evaluation and in the Amended NASb GSP’s Groundwater Conditions and sustainable management 
criteria sections. 

7.2 Adjacent Subbasins Impacts Analysis 

This subtask involves additional analysis to evaluate potential impacts of new and existing sustainable 
management criteria on current and projected groundwater conditions in adjacent basins. Interbasin 
conditions will be evaluated in the CoSANA model under up to three scenarios. These scenarios may include 
updated aquifer boundary conditions based on current groundwater levels, proposed SGMA-related 
conditions from neighboring basin GSPs, impacts of the estimated interconnected surface water depletions, 
potential impacts as a result of lower groundwater level sustainable management criteria, and future PMA 
implementation benefits. 

SCHEDULE 
Project start date: October 21, 2024 
Project completion date: April 30, 2026 



Page 12 of 12 

BUDGET 
The work contained in this scope of services will be completed for $806,395 on a time and materials basis 
based on the attached rate table. 



Page 1 of 3 

Support Services for Sustainable Groundwater Management Act 

(SGMA) Implementation and Other Groundwater Management 

Activities – Water Quality Monitoring   
Scope of Work 

June 2025 

Woodard & Curran is currently under contract to perform support service for SGMA implementation and 

other groundwater management activities in the North American Subbasin. Phase 6 will be incorporated 

into the existing project contract, as previously amended through Change Order #1, through Change 

Order #2.  

PHASE 6: WATER YEAR 2025 WATER QUALITY MONITORING 

6.1 2025 Water Quality Sampling 

Woodard & Curran will perform one water quality monitoring event including 27 monitoring wells. 

Woodard & Curran will oversee Blaine Tech, a subcontractor, who will conduct all sampling activities. 

Sampling will be conducted using Blaine Tech’s standard monitoring procedures, which are available upon 

request. Samples will be delivered to and analyzed by Pace Analytical. Samples will be analyzed for 

constituent consistent with the Fall 2025 Sampling Schedule, as summarized below:  

• 27 monitoring wells will be sampled consistent with the Fall 2025 Sampling Schedule

• 27 samples will be analyzed for TDS (Method SM2540C)

• 12 samples will be analyzed for Nitrate (Method EPA 300.0)

• 25 samples will be analyzed for Arsenic, Boron, Iron, and Manganese (Method EPA 6010)

• 25 samples will be analyzed for Hexavalent Chromium (Method EPA 7916)

Assumptions: 

• Appropriate access agreements are in place at each site

• Site and well conditions allow for sampling

• SGA will provide a method of disposal of purge water at no cost to Woodard & Curran

• Sampling activities will occur in September 2025

• Standard turnaround time will be used for sample analysis (10 business days)

Deliverables: 

• Monitoring event field notes

• Laboratory analytical reports

6.2 Water Quality Technical Memorandum 

Following water quality sampling activities, Woodard & Curran will compile laboratory reports and 

prepare tables presenting constituent data. This data will be incorporated into a brief Technical 

Memorandum that will detail the scope of sampling activities performed, analytical results, conclusions, 

and/or recommendations related to observed conditions and trends. 



Page 2 of 3 

Deliverables: 

• Water Quality Technical Memorandum

TENTATIVE SCHEDULE 

• September 1st – Monitoring event begins

• September 5th – Monitoring events ends, samples are delivered to Pace Analytical

• September 8th – Woodard & Curran will provide field notes to SGA

• September 22nd – Laboratory analytical reports will be provided to Woodard & Curran

• September 22nd – Woodard & Curran begins WY 2025 Water Quality Technical Memorandum

• October 6th – Woodard & Curran discusses water quality analysis results with SGA and provides a

Draft copy of the Memorandum for SGA’s and/or the NASb GSAs’ review and comment

• October 31st – Woodard & Curran finalizes WY 2025 Water Quality Technical Memorandum, which

will be included in the WY 2025 Annual Report as an appendix

BUDGET 

Phase 6: WY 2025 WQ 

Monitoring 

Total 

Labor 

Hours 

Total 

Labor 

Costs 

Blaine 

Tech 

Pace 

Analytical 

Sub 

Consultant 

Total Cost 

Total 

Fee 

6.1: 2025 Water Quality Sampling 30 $8,570 $17,500 $3,500 $21,000 $29,570 

6.2: Water Quality Technical 

Memorandum 
46 $13,490 $0 $0 $0 $13,490 

TOTAL 76 $22,060 $17,500 $3,500 $21,000 $43,060 



Page 3 of 3 

WATER YEAR 2025 SAMPLING SCHEDULE 

TDS
Nitrate 

(as N)
As B Cr

6+ Fe Mn

AB-1 Shallow X X X X X X X

AB-2 Deep X X X X X X

AB-2 Middle X X X X X X

AB-2 Shallow X X X X X X X

AB-3 Middle X X X X X X

AB-3 Shallow X X X X X X X

Cemetery (IRLP) X X X X X X X

MW 1-1 X X X X X X

MW 1-3 X X X X X X

MW 1-4 X X X X X X

MW 2-2 X X X X X X

MW 2-3 X X X X X X

MW1-2 X X X X X X

NCMWD-Supply X

Roseview Park - 

315
X X X X X X X

SGA_MW02 X X X X X X X

SGA_MW05 X X X X X X X

SGA-MW01 X X X X X X X

SSWD-Supply X

SUT-P1 X X X X X X X

SUT-P2 X X X X X X

SUT-P3 X X X X X X

SVMW West 1-A X X X X X X X

WPMW-11A X X X X X X X

WPMW-11B X X X X X X

WPMW-12A X X X X X X X

WPMW-12B X X X X X X

COC

Well ID



DRAFT Fee Estimate

Client: Sacramento Groundwater Authority October 1, 2024

Project: Support Services for SGMA Implementation and Other Groundwater Management Activities

Phases Total

Ali Taghavi Jim Blanke Katie Cole Art Machado Nicole Koerth Max McNally
Jingnan 

Zhou
Jeanna Long

Javier Li 

Guan

Jim 

Strandberg
Anisa Krieg Katie Evans

Project 

Assistant
Blaine Tech ODCs

PIC PM DPM PG
Junior 

Engineer

Junior 

Planner

Modeling 

Support
DMS DMS

WQ, GWL, 

Wells

Junior 

Geologist

Engagement 

& Outreach

Monitoring 

& Sampling

Travel 

Mileage

Task 1:  Project Management & Coordination

1.1 Kick Off Meeting 2 4 4 6 1 1 18 $6,086 $0 $0 $0 $6,086

1.2 Coordination Meetings 16 32 60 60 4 4 176 $58,568 $0 $0 $0 $58,568

1.3 Intrabasin GSA Coordination Support 4 18 24 20 66 $22,128 $0 $0 $0 $22,128

1.4 Interbasin Coordination Meetings 4 8 16 12 8 48 $16,184 $0 $0 $0 $16,184

1.5 Contract Administration 8 54 36 98 $25,851 $0 $0 $0 $25,851

Subtotal Task 1: 26 70 158 98 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 13 36 406 $128,817 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $128,817

Task 2:  Outreach & Communications - 2025

2.1 Public Meetings 3 8 20 16 10 57 $19,030 $0 $0 $500 $500 $19,530

2.2 Sustainable Management Criteria Outreach 8 8 24 12 4 56 $18,692 $0 $0 $500 $500 $19,192

2.3 Website Migration and 1 Year Hosting 1 6 36 43 $11,710 $0 $0 $1,000 $1,000 $12,710

2.4 Website Updates 12 2 16 8 38 $11,302 $0 $0 $0 $11,302

2.5 DMS Needs Assessment 1 8 8 17 $5,321 $0 $0 $0 $5,321

Subtotal Task 2: 11 16 46 40 0 0 4 16 60 0 0 18 0 211 $66,055 $0 $0 $0 $2,000 $2,000 $68,055

Task 3: Periodic Evaluation

Periodic Evaluation Development (Proposed Outline) 0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Introduction 1 2 3 $756 $0 $0 $0 $756

Significant New Information (Basin Setting, HCM, Water Use, Model, Monitoring 

Network) 4 8 8 16 36 72 $20,867 $0 $0 $0 $20,867

Progress Towards Sustainability 8 12 24 20 30 94 $25,616 $0 $0 $0 $25,616

Projects and Management Actions 2 6 10 20 38 $10,056 $0 $0 $0 $10,056

GSA Activities 10 4 16 30 $7,912 $0 $0 $0 $7,912

Summary of Proposed or Completed Revisions to Plan Elements 4 8 12 24 $6,320 $0 $0 $0 $6,320

Internal Review of Periodic Evaluation 4 16 20 $7,520 $0 $0 $0 $7,520

Finalize Periodic Evaluation 2 2 8 12 24 $5,614 $0 $0 $0 $5,614

Subtotal Task 3: 8 36 43 70 56 80 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 305 $84,662 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $84,662

Task 4: GSP Amendment

4.1  NASb GSP Amendment 0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

GSP Evaluation and Update 32 50 50 30 162 $44,408 $0 $0 $0 $44,408

Update Executive Summary 2 2 4 6 2 6 22 $6,414 $0 $0 $0 $6,414

Update General Information/Introduction 2 1 2 5 $1,384 $0 $0 $0 $1,384

Update Agency Information 2 4 6 $1,512 $0 $0 $0 $1,512

Update Description of Plan Area 4 6 10 $2,592 $0 $0 $0 $2,592

Update Notice and Communications 6 2 8 16 $4,280 $0 $0 $0 $4,280

Update Hydrogeologic Conceptual Model 8 6 4 6 10 2 36 $11,288 $0 $0 $0 $11,288

Update Groundwater Conditions 4 6 16 24 8 58 $15,973 $0 $0 $0 $15,973

Update Water Budget 4 4 2 6 10 2 16 44 $13,391 $0 $0 $0 $13,391

Update Sustainable Goals, Minimum Thresholds, & Measurable Objectives 4 6 12 16 16 54 $14,507 $0 $0 $0 $14,507

Update Monitoring Network 6 18 24 40 40 30 158 $45,328 $0 $0 $0 $45,328

Update Projects & Management Actions 2 1 1 4 12 20 $5,260 $0 $0 $0 $5,260

Update Plan Implementation 12 16 28 $7,344 $0 $0 $0 $7,344

Update Interbasin & Intrabasin Coordination 1 2 2 4 9 $2,496 $0 $0 $0 $2,496

Update References, Technical Reports, Appendices 2 4 4 4 8 22 $5,981 $0 $0 $0 $5,981

4.2 Technical Analyses 0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Groundwater Level SMC Revisions 4 24 24 60 120 232 $66,208 $0 $0 $0 $66,208

Water Quality SMC Impacts 16 8 40 60 124 $35,600 $0 $0 $0 $35,600

Land Subsidence SMC 2 12 6 16 30 66 $19,488 $0 $0 $0 $19,488

4.3  Draft Amended GSP Compilation & Preparation 8 8 4 8 4 12 44 $13,325 $0 $0 $0 $13,325

4.4  Respond to GSA Comments on Amended GSP 2 8 12 16 8 20 66 $18,810 $0 $0 $0 $18,810

4.5  Public Comment & Final GSP Preparation 2 4 8 12 4 20 12 62 $15,587 $0 $0 $0 $15,587

Subtotal Task 4: 40 114 173 301 382 206 16 0 0 0 0 12 1244 $351,176 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $351,176

Task 5:  Annual Report

5.1  Water Year 2024 Annual Report 18 18 24 32 30 40 12 6 180 $51,743 $0 $0 $0 $51,743

Subtotal Task 5: 18 18 24 32 30 40 12 0 0 0 0 6 180 $51,743 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $51,743

Task 6:  Groundwater Monitoring

6.1  Water Level Data Collection 2 4 4 20 30 $7,604 $11,700 $11,700 $11,700 $300 $300 $19,604

Subtotal Task 6: 0 0 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 20 0 0 30 $7,604 $11,700 $11,700 $11,700 $300 $300 $19,604

Task 7:  Modeling Support

7.1  Interconnected Surface Water and GDE Analyses 26 8 2 8 180 224 $72,198 $0 $0 $0 $72,198

7.2  Adjacent Subbasins Impacts Analysis 6 1 2 6 80 95 $30,141 $0 $0 $0 $30,141

Subtotal Task 7: 32 9 4 14 0 0 260 0 0 0 0 0 0 319 $102,339 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $102,339

TOTAL 135 263 450 559 468 326 292 16 60 9 20 31 66 2695 $792,395 $11,700 $11,700 $11,700 $2,300 $2,300 $806,395 

Labor Outside Services ODCs 

Total Hours
Total Labor 

Costs (1)
Subtotal

Sub Consultant 

Total Cost (2)

Total ODCs 

(3)

Total 

Fee
Project 

Coord.



4/28/2025

Ali Taghavi
Pencil



CHANGE ORDER #2025-02 FOR SGA CONSULTING AGREEMENT 

In reference to Consulting Agreement executed October 25, 2024, between the Sacramento Groundwater 
Authority (“SGA”) and Woodard & Curran, Inc. (“Consultant”), this Change Order #2025-02 modifies 
the Consulting Agreement and Exhibit A, as follows: 

1. Change in Consultant’s Compensation:

Consultant’s fee is increased $43,060, from $806,395 to a not-to-exceed amount of $849,455.

All other terms and conditions of the Consulting Agreement between October 25, 2024, remain 
unchanged. 

Sacramento Groundwater Authority (SGA) Woodard & Curran, Inc. (Consultant) 

James Peifer, Executive Director Ali Taghavi, Senior Principal 

Date Date 



Agenda Item 4 

Sacramento Groundwater Authority 
June 12, 2025 
Board Meeting 

 Agenda Item 4 
Page 1 of 1 

Topic: Sacramento Regional Water Bank and Water Accounting System Updates 
Type: Old Business 
Item For: Information 
Purpose:  2025 SGA Strategic Priorities 

SUBMITTED BY: 
Trevor Joseph,  
Manager of Technical Services PRESENTER: 

Trevor Joseph,  
Manager of Technical Services 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This is an information item for the Board of Directors to receive a status update from Trevor 
Joseph, Manager of Technical Services on the Sacramento Regional Water Bank project and SGA’s 
Water Accounting Framework. 

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION 
None. This item is for information/discussion only. 

BACKGROUND 
A status update will be provided on the development of the Water Bank project.  Multiple Water 
Bank tasks and activities have now been completed, and are in progress, or are pending. A 
presentation will be provided on tasks and activities including the recently completed Water 
Accounting System (WAS) concept paper, Monitoring Plan, Water Bank Starting Balance Modeling, 
Communication and Engagement, CEQA Status, Financial Agreements, Conjunctive Use Best 
Management Practices, and project funding. 

   ATTACHMENT 
Attachment 1 - Sacramento Regional Water Bank schedule 



Water Bank Project—
Tasks/Activit ies/Deliverables

Communication/Engagement
• Stakeholder Forums (5)
• Website
• Q & A Connect
• External Engagement
• Internal Meetings & Coordination

Institutional
• Goals, Objectives, Principles, & Constraints
• Governance/Coordination
• Water Account System (WAS) – Concept Paper
• WAS – Tool/Application
• Financial Agreements
• Monitoring/Mitigation Plan
• Water Bank Starting Balance

Modeling/Technical
• Model Updates/Data Improvements
• Modeling – Baseline & Initial WB Scenario
• Modeling – Updated Baseline & WB Scenarios
• Temperature Modeling
• Conjunctive Use BMPs

Environmental
• CEQA/NEPA strategy (develop/implement)
• CEQA – NOP/Public Scoping
• CEQA – Project Description/Admin Draft, Public 

Draft, Admin Final, Final, NOD
• NEPA/Federal Acknowledgement

Project Management
• Contracts & Procurement
• Funding Applications & Agreements

Subject to change

Data & Tools (WMOP)
Baseline & Initial WB Scenario Refined Scenarios

Temp. Modeling

CU BMPs

GOPC

Governance

WAS Tool

WAS Concept Paper

Financial Agreements
Monit. & Mit. Plan

Starting Balance

PD Updated PD

Admin 
Draft

Public 
Draft

Admin 
Final Final NOD

SF#1 SF#2 SF#3 SF#4 SF#5 (tbd)
Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

2025202420232022 2026



Water Accounting System



Agenda Item 5 

Sacramento Groundwater Authority 
June 12, 2025 
Board Meeting 

 Agenda Item 5 
Page 1 of 1 

Topic: Sustainable Groundwater Management Grant Update 
Type: New Business 
Item For: Information 
Purpose: General – Status Update 

SUBMITTED BY: 
Raiyna Villaseñor,  
Senior Project Manager PRESENTER: 

Raiyna Villaseñor,  
Senior Project Manager 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This is an information item to brief the Board of Directors on the status of the North American 
Subbasin (NASb) Sustainable Groundwater Management (SGM) Round II Grant with the 
California Department of Water Resources (DWR).  

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION 
None. This item is for information only. 

BACKGROUND 
Ms. Villaseñor will provide a brief update on the status of the NASb SGM Round II Grant with the 
DWR. Ongoing work to implement the components of the grant are critical to SGA and other 
NASb Groundwater Sustainability Agencies which supports ongoing requirements of SGMA.  

SGA staff have collected Spring 2025 water levels and Ms. Villaseñor will provide a brief update 
on a few representative monitoring sites and their respective water levels within the SGA area.  

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment 1- PowerPoint Presentation 



Sacramento Groundwater Authority

Item 5. North American Subbasin Department of 
Water Resources Sustainable Groundwater 

Management Grant Round 2 Update and Spring 
2025 Hydrographs

Presented by: Raiyna Villasenor, Senior Project Manager 
& Trevor Joseph, Manager of Technical Services

June 12, 2025



California Department of Water Resources 

(DWR) SGM Round 2 Grant Update



NASb Grant Proposed 
Components

Advancing NASb SGM Component Status Update 

1. Grant Administration

2. Groundwater Recharge Feasibility Study

3. Groundwater Quality Degradation Study

4. Groundwater Monitoring Wells Construction

• Groundwater Dependent Ecosystems (GDE) (4)

• Chronic Lower of Groundwater Levels (CLGWL) (1)

• Surface Water Depletion (SWD) (1)

5. Groundwater Monitoring Well/Emergency Supply Well

• Domestic and Emergency Supply (1)

6. GSP Update and Annual Reporting

7. CoSANA Model Upgrade and Enhancements
Exact locations of proposed components may vary 



NASb Grant Proposed 
Components

Advancing NASb SGM Component Status Update 

2. Groundwater Recharge Feasibility Study

• Task 1: Recharge Basin Investigation Planning - Completed

• Task 2: Recharge Basin Investigation – Completed

• Task 3: Water Conveyance Assessment – proposing to terminate

• Task 4: Preliminary Design Drawings - proposing to terminate

• Task 5: Temporary Diversion Permit Application  - proposing to

terminate

Exact locations of proposed components may vary 



Component 2 – Groundwater Recharge 
Feasibility Study 

Advancing NASb SGM Component Status Update 

2. Groundwater Recharge Feasibility Study

Exact locations of proposed components may vary 



NASb Grant Proposed 
Components

Advancing NASb SGM Component Status Update 

3. Groundwater Quality Degradation Study 

• Task 1: Review Existing Studies  - proposing to amend

• Task 2: Groundwater Model Forecast – proposing to amend to 

Production Well Threat Assessment 

Exact locations of proposed components may vary 



Component 3 –Groundwater Quality 
Degradation Study 



NASb Grant Proposed 
Components

Advancing NASb SGM Component Status Update 

4. Groundwater Monitoring Wells Construction

• Seven proposed monitoring well throughout the Subbasin

(NASb)

• Two of the seven access agreements finalized – few close to

finalizing

Exact locations of proposed components may vary 



NASb Grant Proposed 
Components

Advancing NASb SGM Component Status Update 

5. Groundwater Monitoring Well/Emergency Supply Well

• One proposed monitoring well located on the Placer

Conservation Authority (PCA) land in West Placer GSA area

(WPMW-14)

• Removal of Emergency Supply Well

Exact locations of proposed components may vary 



NASb Grant Proposed Components
Advancing NASb SGM Component Status Update 

6. GSP Update and Annual Report 

• Task 1: DMS Maintenance – in progress 

• Task 2: Groundwater Levels and Quality Monitoring – Groundwater Levels collected for Water Year (WY) 

2022, 2023, and 2024 completed, Water Quality Analysis for WY2023 completed, work on WY 2025 Water 

Quality Analysis to kick-off shortly

• Task 3: Prepare Annual Reports (WYs 2022, 2023, 2024, and 2025) – WYs 2022, 2023 and 2024 completed, 

work on WY 2025 to begin around October 2025

• Task 4: Develop and Implement Well Permit/Construction Practices – in progress 

• Task 5: Domestic/Shallow Well Data Collection and Communication – in progress

• Task 6: Groundwater Dependent Ecosystem (GDE) Assessment Program – effort part of task 7

• Task 7: Prepare GSP Update – in progress



NASb Grant Proposed 
Components

Advancing NASb SGM Component Status Update 

7. CoSANA Model Upgrade and Enhancements

• Task 1: Data Gap Analysis and Enhancement to Integrated

Water Resources Model – in progress

• Task 2: Calibration and Refinement of Integrated Water

Resources Model - in progress

• Task 3: Update Model Baseline Conditions and Perform

Sustainability Scenarios - in progress

Exact locations of proposed components may vary 



Component 7 - CoSANA Model Upgrade and 
Enhancements

• Time-series data collection, development and model updates:

o Climate change hydrology updates

o Managed wetlands and riparian vegetation updates

o Land use updates

o Upgrade model boundary conditions

o Upgrade simulation of wastewater collection network

o Upgrade return flows data for urban and agricultural water districts and

other large parcels not served by water agencies

o Update hydrology data, as needed

o Improve inflows to tributary streams

o Update surface water delivery and stream flow data, as needed

o Update municipal groundwater production and remediation extraction

rates

• Spatial data collection, analysis and

updates:

o Update soils data using Soil Survey

Geographic Database (SSURGO)

o Analyze and utilize available Airborne

ElectroMagnetic (AEM) survey data , as

needed

o Develop and refine stream-stage discharge

o Map spatial variation of impervious surfaces

o Update spatial location of municipal

production and remediation extraction and

injection wells



SGA Spring 2025 Hydrographs



WMCSS (Churchill) 

= most recent reading from Spring 2025

= location of well 



SGA_MW06
= most recent reading from Spring 2025

= location of well 



SGA_MW08
= most recent reading from Spring 2025

= location of well 



SGA_MW04

= most recent reading from Spring 2025

= location of well 



Chuckwagon Park

= most recent reading from Spring 2025

= location of well 



URS1000-700+00C (N28)

= most recent reading from 9/8/2023

= location of well 



Lone Oak Park
= most recent reading from Spring 2025

= location of well 



Agenda Item 6 

Sacramento Groundwater Authority 
June 12, 2025  
Board Meeting 

 Agenda Item 6 
Page 1 of 2 

Topic: Legislative and Regulatory Update 
Type: New Business 
Item For: Information 
Purpose: Routine 

SUBMITTED BY: 
Ryan Ojakian 
Manager of Government 
Relations 

PRESENTER: 
Ryan Ojakian 
Manager of Government 
Relations 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This is an information item to provide a briefing on important legislative and regulatory updates for 
the Sacramento Groundwater Authority Board of Directors. 

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION 
None. This item is for information/discussion only. 

BACKGROUND  
The bill house of origin deadline is June 6, 2025.  There are several bills related to groundwater 
management or quality listed below that have been or will be acted on by that deadline.  The bills 
below are representative of bills that could either set a precedent or directly impact SGA members.  

The State Budget is in significant flux with a $12 billion budget deficit.  There is a statutory deadline 
to pass a balanced budget by June 15th.  Since a constitutional change passed by the voters in 2012, 
that restricts legislators’ pay if the deadline is not made, the June 15th deadline has been made 

Topic Bill Number and Author 
Groundwater Adjudication AB 1413 Papan (D- San Mateo) 

AB 1466 Hart (D- Santa Barbara) 
SGMA adjustment AB 709 Jeff Gonzalez (R- Coachella) 

AB 929 Connolly (D- San Rafael) 
AB 1044 Macedo (R- Visalia) 

Groundwater Quality AB 1102 Borner (D- Solano Beach) 
Surface Water Groundwater interaction AB 1425 Arambula (D- Fresno) 
Water Quality AB 794 Gabriel (D- Encino) 

SB 454 McNerney (D- Stockton) 
SB 466 Caballero (D- Merced) 
SB 601 Allen (D- Santa Monica) 
SB 682 Allen (D- Santa Monica) 

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202520260AB1413
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202520260AB1466
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202520260AB709
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202520260AB929
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202520260AB1044
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202520260AB1102
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202520260AB1425
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202520260AB794
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202520260SB454
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202520260SB466
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202520260SB601
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202520260SB682


Agenda Item 6 

Sacramento Groundwater Authority 
June 12, 2025 
Board Meeting 

 Agenda Item 6 
Page 2 of 2 

every year.  However, the budget can always be amended past that deadline and in most years 
significant changes have been made post deadline.  A typical practice has been to “score” a dollar 
amount for a given category for the June 15th budget with details sorted out after that timeline.   

Arguably, the two biggest areas of interest to SGA in the budget debate are how “Cap and Trade” is 
addressed and how Proposition 4 funds are utilized.  The question being will the funds in these 
areas be used to address the budget deficit or will they go for the purposes originally intended.  It 
is not clear yet when or how those questions will be resolved, but there is an expectation that 
there will be significant movement before July 18th and the beginning of the Legislative summer 
recess. 

Additionally, there is a long-standing practice of attaching budget trailer bills to the budget 
process.  Sometimes these bills have significant financial implications and other times the bulk of 
the impact is a policy change.  There are several budget trailer bills related to water that the 
Administration has proposed.  Specifically, there is one that extends the DWR periodic review of 
groundwater basins (bulletin 118) from every 5 years to every 10 years.  This has ramifications for 
on-going SGMA implementation but can largely be viewed as a cost savings measure.  The specific 
language of this proposed trailer bill is attached to this report. 

ATTACHMENTS 
Atachment 1 – Trailer Bill Reduce Groundwater Bulle�n Frequency 



 



Agenda Item 7 

 

Sacramento Groundwater Authority 
June 12, 2025 
Board Meeting 

 Agenda Item 7 
Page 1 of 1 

  

 
 

Topic: Executive Directors’ Report 
Type: New Business 
Item For: Information 
Purpose: General 

 
 
 

 
SUBMITTED BY: 

Jim Peifer 
Executive Director 

 
PRESENTER: 

Jim Peifer 
Executive Director 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This is an information item for the Executive Director to provide a briefing on important activities, 
reports, communications, advocacy, and other updates for the Sacramento Groundwater Authority 
Board of Directors. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION 
None. This item is for information/discussion only. 

 
 

BACKGROUND 
This agenda item is a standing item to provide an opportunity for the Executive Director to report 
to the Executive Committee on important activities, reports, communications, advocacy, and other 
updates. 
 
Grandpark Southwest Specific Plan - The County of Sacramento has given Notice of Preparation of 
a Draft Environmental Impact Report for the Grandpark Southwest Specific Plan.  You can find the 
notice here:  htps://planning.saccounty.gov/PlansandProjectsIn-
Progress/Documents/Grandpark/GrandPark%20Southwest/GPSS%20NOP_5-15-25.pdf 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Atachment 1- Financial reports 
Atachment 2 – SGA Grandpark Leter December 4, 2023 
 
 
  

https://planning.saccounty.gov/PlansandProjectsIn-Progress/Documents/Grandpark/GrandPark%20Southwest/GPSS%20NOP_5-15-25.pdf
https://planning.saccounty.gov/PlansandProjectsIn-Progress/Documents/Grandpark/GrandPark%20Southwest/GPSS%20NOP_5-15-25.pdf


SACRAMENTO GROUNDWATER AUTH.
Income Statement

Year-to-Date Performance, March 2025 - 1 month back, Consolidated by
department

9 Months Ended
March 31, 2025 Annual

% UsedUnusedBudget

   REVENUES
933,236.00 541,714.00 (391,522.00) 172.3 %     Groundwater Fees Revenue

0.00 391,522.00 391,522.00      Base Administrative Fee
353,107.90 1,624,134.00 1,271,026.10 21.7 %     NASB SGMA Grant Revenue
198,229.12 0.00 (198,229.12)     NASB SGMA Grant Revenue - PT

1,511.73 0.00 (1,511.73)     Holiday Social
598.38 0.00 (598.38)     Cash Discount

59,562.91 35,000.00 (24,562.91) 170.2 %     Interest on S/T Investments

TOTAL REVENUES 1,546,246.04 2,592,370.00 1,046,123.96 59.6 %

   

1,546,246.04 2,592,370.00 Total REVENUE 1,046,123.96 59.6 %

   

1,546,246.04 2,592,370.00 GROSS PROFIT 1,046,123.96 59.6 %

   OPERATING EXPENDITURES
        Staff Expenses

435,938.21 583,255.00 147,316.79 74.7 %          General Salaries
          Employee Benefits - Health 55,068.97 206,741.00 151,672.03 26.6 %

5,135.50 0.00 (5,135.50)          Employee Benefits - Dental
46,759.32 0.00 (46,759.32)          Employee Benefits - PERS

818.86 0.00 (818.86)          Employee Benefits - Vision
2,699.74 0.00 (2,699.74)          Employee Benefits - Disability

0.00 52,000.00 52,000.00           PERS Side Fund Payment
7,502.00 0.00 (7,502.00)          PERS annual lump sum payment
2,188.57 0.00 (2,188.57)          Worker's Comp Insurance

27,908.28 46,660.00 18,751.72 59.8 %          Payroll Taxes
          Travel / Meals 12,809.53 20,000.00 7,190.47 64.0 %

1,230.00 6,000.00 4,770.00 20.5 %          Professional Development

     TOTAL Staff Expenses 598,058.98 914,656.00 316,597.02 65.4 %

        Office Expenses
30,857.75 37,500.00 6,642.25 82.3 %          Rent

124.00 0.00 (124.00)          Storage Rental
35,215.98 26,000.00 (9,215.98) 135.4 %          Insurance - Auto & Gen Liab.

1,517.67 0.00 (1,517.67)          Insurance - Property
742.50 1,100.00 357.50 67.5 %          Office Maintenance
546.48 5,000.00 4,453.52 10.9 %          Telephone

YTD Variance Performance Income Statement4/29/2025 3:14:30 PM Page 1

SACRAMENTO GROUNDWATER AUTH.



9 Months Ended
March 31, 2025 Annual

% UsedUnusedBudget

          Dues and Subscription 5,218.00 11,500.00 6,282.00 45.4 %
543.89 0.00 (543.89)          Printing & Supplies
389.06 10,000.00 9,610.94 3.9 %          Printing - General

1,070.16 2,500.00 1,429.84 42.8 %          Office Equipment
591.20 2,100.00 1,508.80 28.2 %          Postage
682.41 0.00 (682.41)          Postage - Equipment

          Meetings 644.38 3,000.00 2,355.62 21.5 %
4,298.86 0.00 (4,298.86)          Events

534.98 12,000.00 11,465.02 4.5 %          Events
86.99 0.00 (86.99)          Computer Equipment & Supplies

          Computer Software 2,590.58 3,500.00 909.42 74.0 %
10,930.50 17,500.00 6,569.50 62.5 %          Computer Support & Maintenance

     TOTAL Office Expenses 96,585.39 131,700.00 35,114.61 73.3 %

        Professional Fees
753.76 1,800.00 1,046.24 41.9 %          ADP / Banking Charges
789.54 0.00 (789.54)          Banking Fees

16,450.00 17,500.00 1,050.00 94.0 %          Audit Fees
          Legal Fees 34,157.00 50,000.00 15,843.00 68.3 %

770.00 0.00 (770.00)          GASB 68 reporting fee
2,500.00 27,000.00 24,500.00 9.3 %          Consulting Expenses
1,050.00 0.00 (1,050.00)          Actuarial Services
3,066.45 0.00 (3,066.45)          Human Resources Services

     TOTAL Professional Fees 59,536.75 96,300.00 36,763.25 61.8 %

        Consulting - Program Management
661,812.33 1,462,047.00 800,234.67 45.3 %          NASB SGMA Grant Expenses
111,137.75 0.00 (111,137.75)          NASB SGMA Grant - PT

     TOTAL Consulting Program Management 772,950.08 1,462,047.00 689,096.92 52.9 %

        Special Projects Expenses
6,035.92 0.00 (6,035.92)          2022 GSP Imp - Consulting

     TOTAL Special Projects Expenses 6,035.92 0.00 (6,035.92)

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENDITURES 1,533,167.12 2,604,703.00 1,071,535.88 58.9 %

13,078.92 (12,333.00)OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (25,411.92) -106.0 %

   

13,078.92 (12,333.00)NET OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (25,411.92) -106.0 %

   

13,078.92 (12,333.00)NET INCOME (LOSS) OF PROGRAM (25,411.92) -106.0 %

YTD Variance Performance Income Statement4/29/2025 3:14:30 PM Page 2

SACRAMENTO GROUNDWATER AUTH.



Per California Government Code 6505.5 (e), SGA reports the following unaudited information:

For the period ending March 31, 2025
Cash in checking account: (11,326)$               
LAIF Balance: 1,512,844$           

For the period of January 1 to March 31, 2025
Total cash receipts for the period: 245,694$               

Total cash disbursements for the period: 612,852$               



��������������	
����
	���	
����
����������������������������������	
�� �!�������"���#������$�#%&�%'("(��#���� )*+,-�./0�.1.23456�789:;<54�4=:>?@:�<8ABCDEFG:DHIJ)KL)MNOPQ�RLQSOTU)PNL�)SPVQLWPXYWO)OKN�M)O)RNL..Z2�R)PNU)X�Q)[J�TLW\NJ)KL)MNOPQ0�K)��Z2]̂^_̀ àbcd�ebfghij�Z1k̂/k1.1Ml+mn�.1.2�Jolopqpro stuv�swxy�zy{|v|}|~v����h̀d��h��dh �i�c��̀d�ac��dh �i�c���h�ac��ifebfghi �hg�ac��ifebfghi _bd�ai��h������hi _fabcd�̂��.1.2 �̂2�.1.2 LU ���Z.�2 ��.Z].] PVQM)J�VQYY)LP k�210111�11_̀ àbcd��bff�i�P�ol-�Tp*��,o� 1�11��p�,rr,r���l-lrmp� �0��.0]/̂�Z2P�ol-�U,on�+l�l-� k�210111�11 Nr�,r���l-lrmp� �02�.0]/̂�Z2

������ ¡�¢�£¤¥�¦§ ©̈ª«�¬®̄°±²�§³́µ¶°·�̧µ±µ¹́µ

¶µµº»£��°±¼½¹»¾µ²±»̄²²¾¿±¾®³À�¬®̄°±²̧µ±µ¹́µ¾±»ºÁ ¢�¢







Agenda Item 8 

 

Sacramento Groundwater Authority 
June 12, 2025 
Board Meeting 

 Agenda Item 8 
Page 1 of 1 

  

 
 

Topic: Board Directors’ Comments 
Type: New Business  
Item For: Information 
Purpose: Routine 

 
 
 

 
SUBMITTED BY: 

Jim Peifer 
Executive Director 

 
PRESENTER: 

Chris Hunley, SGA Chair 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This is an information item to provide an opportunity for the Sacramento Groundwater Authority 
Board of Directors to report on any updates from their agency, comments, request future agenda 
items, recommendations, and questions.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION 
None. This item is for information only. 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
This agenda item is a standing item to provide an opportunity to report on any updates from their 
agency, comments, request future agenda items, recommendations, and questions. 

 
 
 
 
 
 


	SGA Board of Directors Meeting - June 12, 2025
	AGENDA
	1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
	2. PUBLIC COMMENT
	3. CONSENT CALENDAR
	3.1 Meeting Minutes
	Attachment 1- April 10, 2025
	3.2 Approve Task Order 2025-02 to West Yost Agreement
	Attachment 1 – SGA Consultant Agreement 2024-001
	Attachment 2 – West Yost Supporting Letter and Amendment
	Attachment 3 – Change Order #2
	3.3 Approve Task Order 2024-02 to Woodard & Curran Agreement
	Attachment 1- Woodard & Curran Agreement
	Attachment 2- Task Order 2024-02 to Woodard & Curran Agreement
	4. INFORMATION: SACRAMENTO REGIONAL WATER BANK AND WATERACCOUNTING SYSTEM UPDATES
	Attachment 1 - Sacramento Regional Water Bank schedule
	5. INFORMATION: SGMA GRANT UPDATE
	Attachment 1- Presentation
	6. INFORMATION: LEGISLATIVE UPDATE
	Attachment 1 – Trailer Bill Reduce Groundwater Bulletin Frequency
	7. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT
	Attachment 1- Financial Reports
	Attachment 2- GrandPark Letter (2023)
	8. DIRECTORS’ COMMENTS



